E-FILED
May 17, 2017 2:22 PM
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington



SUPREME COURT NO. 94567.5

NO. 74713-4-I

IN TH	HE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON		
	STATE OF WASHINGTON,		
	Respondent,		
	v.		
	TERRI HUIZENGA,		
	Petitioner.		
	ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE TATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY The Honorable Ira Uhrig, Judge		
, , ,	PETITION FOR REVIEW		
	MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Trial Proceedings
	2. Appellate Proceedings
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 5
	THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED HUIZENGA'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT AGAINST SELF- INCRIMINATION BY REJECTING A FIRST-TIME OFFENDER WAIVER BASED SOLELY ON HUIZENGA'S REFUSAL TO ACKNOWLEDGE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE OFFENSES.
E.	CONCLUSION 12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Garibay</u> 67 Wn. App. 773, 841 P.2d 49 (1992)
<u>State v. Grayson</u> 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005)
<u>State v. Mail</u> 121 Wn.2d 707, 854 P.2d 1042 (1993)
<u>State v. McCullough</u> 49 Wn. App. 546, 744 P.2d 641 (1987)
<u>State v. Montgomery</u> 105 Wn. App. 442, 17 P.3d 1237 (2001)
<u>State v. Ramires</u> 109 Wn. App. 749, 37 P.3d 343 (2002)
<u>State v. Richardson</u> 105 Wn. App. 19, 19 P.3d 431 (2001)
<u>State v. Sandefer</u> 79 Wn. App. 178, 900 P.2d 1132 (1995)
<u>State v. Strauss</u> 93 Wn. App. 691, 969 P.2d 529 (1999)
FEDERAL CASES
Bordenkircher v. Hayes 434 U.S. 357, 98 S. Ct. 663, 54 L. Ed. 2d 604 (1978)
<u>Lefkowitz v. Turley</u> 414 U.S. 70, 94 S. Ct. 316, 38 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1973)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page Minnesota v. Murphy Mitchell v. United States RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES 11A WASH, PRACTICE: WASH, PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: Sentencing Reform Act of 19815

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Terri Huizenga asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Huizenga</u>, No. 74713-4-I, filed April 3, 2017 (Appendix A). The court of appeals denied Huizenga's motion for reconsideration on April 24, 2017 (Appendix B).

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is this Court's review warranted to determine whether the trial court violated Huizenga's right to due process and right against self-incrimination when it denied her request for a first-time offender waiver based solely on her refusal "to acknowledge any responsibility whatsoever."

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial Proceedings

The State charged Terri Huizenga with second degree assault and felony harassment. CP 1-2. The State alleged that on April 19, 2015, Huizenga threatened to kill and intentionally assaulted Rachel Zima, thereby recklessly inflicting substantial bodily harm. CP 1-2. The case proceeded to trial in December 2015.

Terri and Albert Huizenga married in 2006 and separated in 2014.

RP 95-100. During the divorce proceedings, Albert moved to their boat, moored in Squalicum Harbor in Bellingham, Washington. RP 97-102. At

the time of trial, Albert had been dating another woman, Rachel Zima, for two years. RP 121.

On April 18, 2015, Albert and Zima had several drinks with friends, then returned to the marina, where they had several more drinks before going to bed. RP 122-29. Around 1:30 a.m. on April 19, they heard rustling on the boat and knew it was Huizenga. RP 132-33. Albert announced he and Zima were there and asked Huizenga to leave. RP 135-36. They did not get out of bed because they were naked. RP 137. Huizenga called 911 and asked police to remove Zima from the boat. RP 140.

Huizenga then started using her phone to take photos him and Zima in bed together. RP 144. Zima became angry and grabbed the phone from Huizenga's hand. RP 146, 202-03. Albert and Zima testified Huizenga then grabbed Zima's hair. RP 147-48, 204. Albert punched Huizenga several times in the face, knocking one of her teeth out. RP 70, 149-53, 268. Huizenga pulled Zima out of bed and Zima felt as pain in her arm as the two fell into the water. RP 206-11. Zima and Albert testified Huizenga repeatedly pushed Zima's head under water and told Zima she wanted to kill her. RP 155-56, 212-14, 276. Zima was later diagnosed with a dislocated elbow. RP 113.

The jury was instructed on self-defense as well as the lesser offenses of third and fourth degree assault. CP 32-42. The jury found Huizenga

guilty as charged of harassment. CP 52. The jury did not return a verdict on second degree assault, instead finding Huizenga guilty of third degree assault. CP 53.

Huizenga has no prior felony history. CP 61-62. She qualified for and requested a first-time offender waiver at sentencing. RP 474-75. RCW 9.94A.650 specifies a trial court "may waive the imposition of a sentence within the standard sentence range" when the offender has no prior felonies.

The State opposed the waiver, arguing it was not "an appropriate resolution in this case," because:

In my mind that resolution and that opportunity that a court would afford a defendant is for one who has taken some accountability for what has happened... It would send a message I believe to Ms. Huizenga that she has continued to avoid responsibility for this event, both in her own mind of how she interprets her own actions, and also in the legal sense of avoiding any real responsibility.

RP 478. Contrary to the State's claim, the first-time offender waiver statute does not specify any criteria the trial court should consider in determining whether to grant or deny the waiver. RCW 9.94A.650(2).

The trial court nevertheless adopted the State's reasoning and rejected the first-time offender waiver based solely on Huizenga's lack of accountability for the crimes:

I do not believe this is an appropriate case for a first offender waiver. Nothing I have seen thus far, and clearly nothing I have heard today, shows in any way that Ms.

Huizenga has taken any action to acknowledge any responsibility whatsoever for these crimes which she has been convicted by a jury. Clearly, in my opinion not a case for a first offender waiver.

RP 488. The court went on to impose six months of confinement—the midpoint of the standard range—and 12 months of community custody. RP 488-49. Huizenga timely appealed. CP 81.

2. <u>Appellate Proceedings</u>

On appeal, Huizenga argued her trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue the assault and harassment convictions encompassed the same criminal conduct. Br. of Appellant, at 5-13. The court of appeals accepted the State's concession of error on this issue and remanded for a new sentencing hearing. Br. of Resp't, at 3-8; Opinion, at 13.

Huizenga also argued the trial court violated her due process rights and Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when it denied her request for a first-time offender waiver based solely on her refusal "to acknowledge any responsibility whatsoever for these crimes." RP 488; Br. of Appellant, at 13-19.

The court of appeals rejected Huizenga's argument. Opinion, at 5-13. The court emphasized Huizenga voluntarily chose to allocute at sentencing and so she "cannot now invoke her right against compelled selfincrimination to protect herself from her own statements, voluntarily made." Opinion, at 7. The court reasoned that by giving trial courts discretion to grant or deny a first-time offender waiver, the legislature "plainly allowed" courts to consider other factors than the individual's criminal history and the facts of the crime, even though the statute does not specify any such criteria. Opinion, at 10-12. Otherwise, the court concluded, allocution would be reduced "to a meaningless, ineffective charade." Opinion, at 12.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED HUIZENGA'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION BY REJECTING A FIRST-TIME OFFENDER WAIVER BASED SOLELY ON HUIZENGA'S REFUSAL TO ACKNOWLEDGE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE OFFENSES.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), a standard range sentence is not appealable. RCW 9.94A.585(1); State v. Mail, 121 Wn.2d 707, 710, 854 P.2d 1042 (1993). However, "constitutional challenges to a standard range sentence are always allowed." Mail, 121 Wn.2d at 712. "The imposition of a penalty for the exercise of a defendant's legal rights violates due process," and is therefore an "error[] of constitutional magnitude" that "necessarily overcome[s] the SRA's statutory prohibition." State v. Sandefer, 79 Wn. App. 178, 181, 184, 900 P.2d 1132 (1995).

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the accused the right against compelled self-incrimination. U.S. CONST. V; CONST. art. I, § 9. The Fifth Amendment right may be asserted in any proceeding, "civil or

criminal, formal or informal, where the answers might incriminate [the individual] in future criminal proceedings." Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77, 94 S. Ct. 316, 38 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1973). No State may penalize an individual for exercising her rights under the Fifth Amendment. Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 434, 104 S. Ct. 1136, 79 L. Ed. 2d 409 (1984). The right against self-incrimination extends to sentencing procedures and continues throughout the direct appeal. Mitchell v. United States, 526 U.S. 314, 325-27, 119 S. Ct. 1307, 143 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1999); State v. McCullough, 49 Wn. App. 546, 550, 744 P.2d 641 (1987).

"To punish a person because [she] has done what the law plainly allows [her] to do is a due process violation of the most basic sort."

Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 363, 98 S. Ct. 663, 54 L. Ed. 2d 604 (1978). A few Washington cases have acknowledged this basic rule where the sentencing court has imposed a harsher sentence (or refused to impose a more lenient sentence) because the defendant exercised his or her right to trial.

In <u>Sandefer</u>, for instance, after being convicted of child molestation by a jury, Sandefer contested the State's recommendation of an exceptional sentence. 79 Wn. App. at 179-80. Sandefer asked for a standard range sentence, noting he rejected two earlier plea offers. <u>Id.</u> at 180. The sentencing court responded that it often gave defendants in such cases more

lenient sentences when they pleaded guilty because it saved the victims from having to testify. Id. The court continued:

Mr. Sandefer, if you entered a plea of guilty, I very possibly would have given you a more lenient sentence towards the lower end of the range, because of saving the victim being victimized by going through this court process. You didn't, and I'm not going to give you that break.

<u>Id.</u> The court rejected the State's recommendation, but sentenced Sandefer to the maximum standard range sentence. <u>Id.</u>

This Court concluded the sentencing court's remarks did not indicate improper consideration of Sandefer's right to stand trial:

Instead, we read the court's remarks as nothing more than a fair response to Sandefer's objection to the State's recommendation. Apart from correctly explaining why Sandefer could no longer demand the benefit of a plea offer he earlier rejected, nothing in the court's remarks affirmatively indicates that the court improperly considered Sandefer's decision to stand trial.

<u>Id.</u> at 184. The key point in <u>Sandefer</u> was the court acknowledged it routinely *decreased* sentences for individuals who pleaded guilty to child molestation, rather than *increased* them for going to trial.

By contrast, in <u>State v. Richardson</u>, 105 Wn. App. 19, 22, 19 P.3d 431 (2001), the sentencing court *increased* the penalty for going to trial by imposing costs it would not have imposed had Richardson pleaded guilty. This Court held the sentencing court improperly penalized Richardson's exercise of his jury trial right and reversed the cost portion of his judgment

and sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 22-23. Together, <u>Sandefer</u> and <u>Richardson</u> make clear that a sentencing court is not permitted to increase punishment based on a defendant's lawful exercise of a constitutional right.

Other cases likewise establish an individual may not be denied a sentencing alternative for an improper basis, such as the exercise of his or her constitutional rights. See, e.g., State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 341-42, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) (holding that although trial courts have broad discretion to refuse a sentencing alternative under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A RCW, they "are still required to act within its strictures and principles of due process of law"); State v. Montgomery, 105 Wn. App. 442, 446, 17 P.3d 1237 (2001) ("A defendant may not be subjected to a more severe punishment for exercising his constitutional right to stand trial."). Thus, an individual may not be subjected to an increased sentence for her continued denial of guilt or assertion of a failed defense.

The egregious lack of remorse aggravator provides a useful analogy. A trial court may impose an exceptional sentence where a jury finds "[t]he defendant demonstrated or displayed an egregious lack of remorse." RCW 9.94A.535(3)(q). The pattern instruction on egregious lack of remorse specifies "[a] defendant does not demonstrate an egregious lack of remorse by [denying guilt] [,] [remaining silent] [,] [asserting a defense to the charged crime] [or] [failing to accept

responsibility for the crime]." 11A WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 300.26 (4th ed. 2016).

The case law bears this out. In State v. Garibay, the court of appeals rejected the trial court's reliance of "lack of remorse" as an aggravating factor. 67 Wn. App. 773, 781, 841 P.2d 49 (1992). There, the sentencing court noted Garibay had not expressed any remorse to the investigating officer who prepared the presentence report. Id. at 781. Garibay also elected to allocute at sentencing. Id. at 781 n.8. These actions did not demonstrate lack of remorse, but rather Garibay's continued assertion of his right against self-incrimination. Id. at 781-82. The Garibay court emphasized "[t]rial courts may not use a defendant's silence or continued denial of guilt as a basis for justifying an exceptional sentence." Id. at 782 (emphasis added); accord State v. Strauss, 93 Wn. App. 691, 698, 969 P.2d 529 (1999) ("Denials of guilt may be the equivalents of silence.").

Likewise, in <u>State v. Ramires</u>, Ramires wrote several letters to his girlfriend before trial asking her to take the blame for shooting a police officer because she would be charged as a minor. 109 Wn. App. 749, 756, 37 P.3d 343 (2002). At trial, Ramires elected to testify and claimed his

¹ <u>Ramires</u> was decided before <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

girlfriend shot the officer. <u>Id.</u> The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence based on Ramires's lack of remorse and attempt to shift blame to his girlfriend. <u>Id.</u> at 765.

The court of appeals rejected the imposition of an exceptional sentence on this basis. <u>Id.</u> at 766. The court explained that "[r]efusing to admit guilt or remaining silent is an exercise of one's rights, not an indication of lack of remorse." <u>Id.</u> Thus, Ramires's refusal to "apologize, show remorse, or accept responsibility for his actions" was "consistent with his failed defense and right to maintain his innocence," and could not justify an exceptional sentence. <u>Id.</u> The court noted that punishing defendants like Ramires who refuse to accept responsibility "may serve to chill a defendant's right to present a defense in the first place and maintain innocence throughout the criminal process, including appeal." <u>Id.</u>

In holding the trial court did not impermissibly punish Huizenga for refusing to accept responsibility for the crimes, the court of appeals' decision conflicts with <u>Garibay</u> and <u>Ramires</u>. In particular, Ramires was never "compelled" to write letters to his girlfriend or to testify, just as Huizenga was never "compelled" to allocute at sentencing. <u>See</u> Opinion, at 7 ("Huizenga was not deprived of her right against self-incrimination. She was told by the sentencing court that she was not required to speak, thus removing any compulsion to self-incriminate."). The trial court

nevertheless erred in considering Ramires's continued denial of guilt and continued assertion of his failed defense, which he had a right to do throughout sentencing and the appeal. <u>Ramires</u>, 109 Wn. App. at 766.

This is precisely what Huizenga did here. Huizenga asserted self-defense at trial. CP 32-42. She continued to assert self-defense at sentencing and deny guilt for the offenses. See, e.g., RP 483 ("I was bleeding from my mouth. I had bruises all over my face. They busted my nose."). Huizenga stated she would fight her case "to the highest appeal court," which she has a constitutional right to do. RP 483; CONST. art. I, § 22 ("In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have . . . the right to appeal in all cases.").

Despite the lawful exercise of these rights, the trial court imposed a harsher sentence because Huizenga did not "acknowledge any responsibility" for the crimes, which would have required her to incriminate herself. The court articulated no other reason for rejecting the first-time offender waiver. This effectively required Huizenga to either incriminate herself by acknowledging guilt or maintain her innocence and suffer a greater sentence—a "due process violation of the most basic sort." Bordenkircher, 434 U.S. at 363.

There is no case law in Washington discussing what factors a trial court may properly consider in determining whether to grant or deny a first-

time offender waiver. The court of appeals' decision essentially gives the court unbridled discretion to consider any factor it wants in denying a waiver request—even the lawful exercise of a constitutional right. This Court's review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the case presents as a significant question of constitutional law and under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the court of appeals' decision conflicts with <u>Garibay</u> and Ramires.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the aforementioned reasons, Huizenga respectfully asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(3).

DATED this 17th day of May, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

mant n

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

MARY T. SWIFT

WSBA No. 45668

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Petitioner