FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/16/2017 4:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 94567-5 (Court of Appeals No. 74713-4-I)

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

TERRI HUIZENGA, Appellant.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By HILARY THOMAS
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #22007/ADMIN #91075
Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office
311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 778-5710

# **

### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent, State of Washington, by Hilary A. Thomas, appellate deputy prosecutor for Whatcom County, seeks the relief designated in Part B.

# B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

Respondent asks this Court to deny Petitioner Huizenga's Petition for Review of its unpublished decision reversing her sentence based on the State's concession that defense counsel had been ineffective in failing to argue that her two convictions constituted the same course of criminal conduct, but denying her claim that the court's consideration of her voluntary allocution in which she did not accept responsibility for her crime violated her right against self-incrimination. See App. A to Petitioner's petition.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should consider and accept review of petitioner's "due process" argument where petitioner did not assign error to and did not brief the issue as a due process argument, but only as a violation of her right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Huizenga was found guilty of felony harassment and assault in third degree. She requested a first-time offender sentence which

the court denied, imposing instead a standard range sentence. Pet. App. A. On appeal, Huizenga asserted that defense counsel had been ineffective for failing to argue that the offenses constituted the same course of criminal conduct and that the sentencing judge had violated her right against self-incrimination. She asserted two assignments of error: one regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel and the other was set forth as:

The trial court violated defendant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when it denied her request for a first-time offender waiver based on her refusal "to acknowledge any responsibility whatsoever."

She summarized the issue regarding this assignment of error as to whether the court's reliance on her refusal to acknowledge responsibility "improperly punished [her] for the lawful exercise of her Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination, which continues through sentencing and the appeal." Huizenga did not object at sentencing, on due process or Fifth Amendment grounds, to the court considering her voluntary allocution in imposing sentence. She did not cite to State v. Garibay, 67 Wn. App. 773, 841 P.2d 49 (1992), overruled on other grounds by State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 919 P.2d 69 (1996), or State v. Ramires, 109 Wn. App. 749, 37 P.3d343 (2002), rev. den., 146 Wn.2d 1022 (2002) in her opening brief and did not file a reply brief, but did file

a statement of additional authorities before oral argument including those cases and did reference them in her motion for reconsideration. Huizenga did not make a due process argument in her opening brief. She asserted at oral argument that a sentencing court could not consider at all a defendant's lack of remorse in deciding not to impose a sentencing alternative.

http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/appellateDockets/index.c fm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a01&docketDa te=20170306.

In its response, the State conceded that defense counsel had been ineffective in failing to make an argument that the two offenses were the same course of criminal conduct and that the matter should be remanded to permit defense counsel an opportunity to do so. The State addressed Petitioner's self-incrimination argument arguing that Huizenga did not invoke her Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and that the judge did not violate it in declining to impose a first time offender waiver sentence, noting that Huizenga voluntarily chose to speak at sentencing.

The Court of Appeals on this issue ruled:

... Huizenga has not established that the sentencing court violated her Fifth Amendment right against compelled self-incrimination in sentencing her. Accordingly, she presents no constitutional ground authorizing her appeal from a standard range sentence.

Slip Opinion at 8. The opinion then addressed the argument counsel made at oral argument that the only factors a sentencing court could consider are the criminal history and the facts of the offense. Slip Opinion at 8-12; <a href="http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/appellateDockets/index.c">http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/appellateDockets/index.c</a> <a href="mailto:fm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a01&docketDa">fm?fa=appellateDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a01&docketDa</a> te=20170306.

# E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The State files this answer only to highlight the fact that

Petitioner's "due process" argument was not raised in her initial briefing
below, and therefore this Court should not accept review of this case on
that basis. The State believes that its briefing below otherwise adequately
addresses the self-incrimination argument that Petitioner did initially brief
below, and submits that review should not be accepted.

Under RAP 13.4(b), this court will grant review only:

- (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioner's asserts that review should be accepted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law and because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with State v. Garibay, 67 Wn. App. 773, 841 P.2d 49 (1992) and State v. Ramires, 109 Wn. App. 749, 37 P.3d 343 (2002). With respect to Garibay, the State would note that the issue in that case was whether the sentencing court could consider general lack of remorse as an aggravating factor in imposing an exceptional sentence, noting that lack of remorse needs to be egregious in order to constitute an aggravating factor. Garibay, 67 Wn. App. at 781. With respect to Ramires, that court also found that the defendant's lack of remorse in that case, which was consistent with his failed defense, was not a sufficient basis for imposition of an exceptional sentence. Ramires, 109 Wn. App. at 766. The court did note however, that egregious lack of remorse can constitute the basis for imposition of an exceptional sentence. Id. at 765-66. To the extent that petitioner is now characterizing her Fifth Amendment claim as a due process violation, the State submits that issue is not properly before this Court as no assignment of error or argument in her initial briefing was predicated on a due process argument.

## F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above and in its briefing below,

Respondent, State of Washington, respectfully requests that this Court not

accept discretionary review and permit this matter to be remanded to the sentencing court for reconsideration of sentence on the basis of whether the two offenses should be considered the same course of criminal conduct.